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Main Guardhouse  
— A Military Public Building  
of the 18th century
Glavna straža  

— prilog poznavanju vojnih javnih zgrada 18. stoljeća

Abstract
The development of modern public administration in European cities facilitated the con-
struction of various types of public buildings. Among these, guardhouses were a prominent 
type in the 18th century, used to house the police force under civil or military jurisdiction. 
Guardhouses were widespread within the Habsburg Empire and were common in the Cro-
atian and Slavonian Military Frontier. 
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Apstrakt
Reforma državne službe u njemačkim i austrijskim zemljama bit će temelj za uspo-
stavu moderne i učinkovite javne administracije 18. stoljeća, te pojave raznovrsnih 
tipova javnih zgrada. Među njima se izdvajaju zgrade Glavne straže, namijenjene 
smještaju policijske službe, bilo u okviru civilnih, bilo vojnih vlasti. Zgrade straža 
nalazimo u brojnim gradovima Habsburškog Carstva, a posebno u sklopu Hrvatske 
i Slavonske Vojne krajine gdje je sačuvano ili pak samo identificirano više primjera.

Ključne riječi
Glavna straža, stražarnica, javne zgrade, barokna arhitektura, vojna arhitektura, 
Vojna krajina
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to urban areas, the police had a wide range of au-
thorities, including maintaining security, public order, 
public health and morality, misdemeanors and crime, 
regulating market prices, as well as controlling the 
residence and migration of foreigners.3 In 1776, it was 
mandated that only military personnel could serve in 
this capacity.4 While the police was typically organ-
ized within the civil municipal authorities,5 often the 
military controlled the entire security system in cities, 
so the police force was part of this system.
Police had designated working spaces within public 
buildings, usually in the city halls, while purpose-built 
facilities for this function began to be constructed in 
the late 17th and early 18th century. They became 
known as „Main Guard“ or “Main Guardhouse” (Ger-
man: Hauptwache). The term was often used both 
for the law enforcement and the building housing it. 
These were often located in key locations within the 
city, such as main squares, city gates, or busy streets, 
to ensure swift and accessible interventions in all cir-
cumstances. They were considered the most impor-
tant buildings in the city.6 Inside a guardhouse, one 
would typically find a commissioner’s office (Wacht-
meister), an interrogation room, where sometimes 
even the punishment took place, as well as a prison.7  
A common characteristic of most guardhouses was a 
covered open space for armed guards at the entrance, 
often in the form of a portico.

Introduction 
The eighteenth century brought a diverse range of 
building types and spatial solutions in European ar-
chitecture, each tailored to its intended purpose. 
This development was driven not only by economic 
growth but also by advancements introduced through 
civil service reforms, notably Cameralism in German 
and Austrian lands. Cameralism laid the foundation 
for establishing a modern and efficient public ad-
ministration. One of its components was the police 
force, with its initial organizational beginnings dat-
ing back to the 17th century in major European cities, 
where paid armed personnel were gradually intro-
duced to maintain public safety and order.1 The es-
tablishment of law enforcement was accompanied 
by theoretical works from prominent economists, 
such as Philipp von Hörnigk who was the first to de-
fine the term “Polizeiwissenschaft,” or the science 
of policing, while Johann Heinrich Gottlob von Justi 
provided guidelines for the development of police in 
his influential work “Grundsätze der Polizeywissen-
schaft” in 1756.2

In Vienna, the police force was founded in 1569, but its 
functioning was improved only in the latter half of the 
17th century due to the significant increase in the ur-
ban population. Efforts to organize it intensified in the 
18th century following civil service reforms, which in-
troduced communal order into cities. Although limited 
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In the existing bibliography, this architectural type has 
not been thoroughly examined, despite its widespread 
presence. Historical data on guardhouse buildings are 
only sporadically found in studies dedicated to the ar-
chitecture of individual cities. Hence, it seemed nec-
essary to explore their development, from elaborately 
articulated structures in European cities to more mod-
est examples in the Croatian Military Frontier on the 
southeastern border of the Habsburg Empire.

Origins and Context
Guardhouses appear all across Europe, from Germany 
through Poland to Russia in the east and the Balkans 
in the south, and their tradition continued well into 
the 19th century. Several grand buildings of this type 
were constructed in German cities in the 18th cen-
tury, the most notable ones in Dresden and Frankfurt. 
The Dresden Old Guardhouse (Alte Hauptwache) was 
erected in 1714-1715 according to the design of mili-
tary engineer Johann Rudolf Fäsch (1680-1749), and 
demolished in 1766.8 It was an impressive two-sto-
rey edifice dominating the main square, with a ground 
floor portico, a mansard roof, a central balcony, and 
a pediment with statues (Fig. 1). The interior9 had an 
irregular arrangement, with differently sized rooms in 
a row, on the ground floor with direct external access: 
rooms for officers, cadets, a water reservoir, and a 
large foyer with a staircase leading to the upper floor. 
On the first floor, there was a central hallway, many 
small rooms, and two larger ones, one for adjutant 
and a large interrogation room that had an exit to the 
central balcony. Despite the perfectly symmetrical fa-
cade suggesting a regular floor plan, this was not the 
case because the central interrogation room was not 
centered into the projecting block of three axes, but 
there was another smaller auxiliary room next to it. 
Interestingly, Johann Rudolf Fäsch was also a theo-
retician of architecture. In 1724, he defined several 
design concepts for guardhouse buildings,10 both for 
large city guards and for small guardhouses in ur-
ban and suburban areas. For large buildings (Fig. 2 
a), he recommends the Dresden-like concept with a 
symmetric composition of the facade and an asym-
metric layout of the interior. In the middle, there is a 
large foyer with a staircase connecting three levels: 
basement, ground floor, and first floor (Fig. 2 b). The 
ground floor contains the guardroom and officer’s 
room (Wach-Stube, Officiers Stube), and on the first 
floor, two apartments also serve as offices. One is for 
the chief commissioner (Platz-Majors-Stube), with an 
office, bedroom, kitchen, and foyer, and the other is 
the adjutant’s apartment, similar but smaller in size. 

2 a, b, c
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structure.14 For wooden guardhouses, Penther adopts 
Fäsch’s scheme, featuring only three rooms: a guard-
room, an officer’s room, and a foyer, while also incor-
porating latrines and a staircase to the attic. Fäsch’s 
designs and Penther’s treatise had a tangible impact, 
as demonstrated by the surviving Main Guardhouse 
in Bamberg (1772-1774, designed by Johann Georg 
von Roppelt, executed by Johann Joseph Vogel).15 This 
building closely followed the established patterns 
with an elongated layout of a series of rooms, ar-
caded ground floor, a mansard roof, and particularly, 
sculptural decorations featuring busts and emblems 
with military insignia. 
Guardhouses were common in cities within the 
Habsburg Empire. In Vienna, several buildings served 
this function. A municipal guardhouse was located 
in a street east of Neuer Markt Square, while another 
was on Petersplatz, next to St. Peter’s Church. A new 
building was erected in the early 18th century (Peter-
splatz 11) due to the reconstruction of the church,16 and 
it was called “Peterswache” or “Rumorwache” (Fig. 5). 
It was a single-story structure with a portico facing 
the square, five windows on the lateral facade, and a 
small inner yard.17 In the latter half of the 18th cen-
tury, the headquarters of the Main Guard was located 
within the Hofkriegsrat – the Imperial War Chancel-
lery (Fig. 6) at Am Hof Square (built 1774-1776 by ar-
chitect Franz Anton Hillebrandt),18 which had a large 
front portico for the guard personnel. 
In Graz, the police operated within the Town Hall, 

A cross-section shows the high-scale interior design 
(Fig. 2 c): plain yet decorative wall finishing, stone bal-
ustrades of the staircase, and lavish tile stoves. In the 
basement, there are two prison cells and a room for 
storage. For small wooden guardhouses, Fäsch pro-
vides three variations of a simple scheme with only 
two units, the guardroom and the officer’s room (Fig. 
3). Frankfurt’s Main Guardhouse (1729-1733, architect 
Johann Jakob Samhaimer)11 is a ground-floor building 
with only a few rooms but with a rich facade featur-
ing a mansard roof, gable, and arcades, conceptually 
evoking the grand Dresden design.
The Frankfurt and Dresden guardhouses were included 
in the book Ausführliche Anweisung zur Bürgerlichen 
Bau-Kunst (1744-1748) by the influential architectural 
theorist Johann Friedrich Penther (1693-1749).12 Pen-
ther covered a wide range of building types and spatial 
solutions, as well as numerous architectural details, 
providing essential guidance for experienced and less 
experienced architects. It is no surprise that his work 
received significant attention in German-speaking 
countries.13 In his fourth book, he offered recommen-
dations for guardhouses (Fig. 4), depicting a design 
similar to the one in Dresden, which he praised while 
criticizing the one in Frankfurt for being a single-story 
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documented or preserved, such as in Osijek, which 
served as the seat of the Generalate, and in the towns 
that declared the status of military communities 
(Militär-Komunität), meaning that the town coun-
cil was under military governance: Vinkovci, Petrin-
ja, Bjelovar, Stara Gradiška, and Nova Gradiška. They 
are also to be found in the far eastern part of Syrmia, 
in today’s Serbia, in Sremska Mitrovica, Petrovara-
din, Zemun, and Belgrade. In the following analysis 
we will try to identify and locate the guardhouses in 
these cities, and when possible, explore their spatial 
and design features through written and cartographic 
historical sources.

Osijek
The construction of the Osijek city-fortress began im-
mediately after the Ottomans’ defeat in 1687, and by 
the end of the 17th century, a smaller structure of the 
Main Guardhouse was standing in the middle of the 
newly planned main square. It seemed to be provi-
sional because it was removed as early as 1715. During 
three successive fortress construction campaigns, it 
was decided to build a new guardhouse on the west-
ern side of the square. This occurred in the late 1720s 
when the chief fortress engineer was Johann Frie-
drich von Heisse,23 who is also the probable designer 
of the building. His Report Plan on completed works 
in 1728 and planned construction for the following 
year states that there is a reserved “place on which I 
should build the new Main Guard” (A. ist der Platz wo 
die neue Haubt Wacht zubauen konnen solle).24 Con-
struction apparently took place in 1729 since there 
was no mention of it in the first subsequent report 
plan from 1731, and the building was already marked 
on its present location in the Hungarian map called 
Eszek-var from 1733.25

The two-wing layout of the building could have been 
the result of its corner position within the block, as 
was the case with other public buildings within the 
fortress.26 On the ground floor, there is a portico with 
masonry columns along the street side, and on the 
courtyard side, there is a similar arcaded hallway on 
both floors in both wings. The main wing has a cen-
trally positioned corridor that connects the street and 
the courtyard. On its sides, there are vaulted rooms, 
with one large and two smaller rooms on each side. In 
the lateral wing, rooms are arranged along the arcad-
ed hallway, and they are also vaulted. The first-floor 
layout is similar to that of the ground floor, except for 
the symmetrically organized groups of four rooms on 
each side of the central corridor. At the end of the 
corridor, there is a room with a staircase leading to 

constructed in the 16th century. It had a porch, vis-
ible in 18th-century views, facing the square, which 
was named “Hauptwachtplatz” at the time, reflecting 
the function of the building.19 A purpose-built guard-
house was documented in Budapest immediately af-
ter the Ottomans’ departure in 1686 and marked on a 
1696 city map. It was located near the twin city gates 
on the southern side of the main Buda square, which 
would be zoned in the early 18th century.20 The origi-
nal guardhouse was replaced by a revival-style build-
ing in the late 19th century. We do not know what the 
original building looked like, but it had a portico, as 
indicated on an 1846 map.21 The fact that it occupied 
the central position of the entire Buda plateau under-
scores the importance of its location. 
Guardhouses were common in the architecture of 
towns along the southeastern border of the Habsburg 
Empire, which administratively belonged to the Cro-
atian and Slavonian Military Frontier. Their construc-
tion in these areas was managed by the military ad-
ministration.22 Only a few guardhouses have been 
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Command indicate that in the year 1781, the construc-
tion of the Main Guard (die vorkommende Hauptwa-
cht) was planned,30 and the Commemorative book 
of Vinkovci Gymnasium mentions that the construc-
tion was approved the same year.31 In 1782, records 
in archival registers mention “construction matters 
regarding the local Main Guard” (Bauangelegenheit-
en der dortigen Hauptwache),32 which unequivocal-
ly confirms that the building was under construction 
at that time. The building has been documented as 
Hauptwacht on three town maps. On Petković’s map 
from 1782 and the identical Balentović’s map,33 it is 
marked brown indicating a wooden structure, as op-
posed to red-marked military buildings made in brick. 
On the undated military cadastre from around 1780, 
it is marked red like the other buildings, so the map 
should be dated close to 1782. It appears that the orig-
inal structure at that location was wooden, like many 
other buildings,34  but it was replaced with a mason-
ry building in 1782. Franz Stefan Engel, who visited 
Vinkovci in 1786, mentions it as “newly and modernly 
built, unlike the others on the square,”35 so it stood 
out among the prevailing single-storey structures on 
the main square.
In 1808, the building housed the Main Guard, a prison, 
and the quarters of the regimental magistrate, bor-
der control lieutenant, and regimental prison officer 
(Hauptwacht und Stochkaus, Wohnung des Regiments 
Syndicus, Grenz Verwaltungs Lieutenants und Regi-
ments Profoseris).36 The headquarters of the Brod Reg-
iment was not located there, as is commonly thought; 
it was initially in the regimental commander’s house 

the tower, which is reinforced on all four sides with 
massive walls and illuminated by a single window. The 
facade (Fig. 7) features five uneven rusticated arches, 
and a row of nine windows, with the central one in 
a projection framed by pilaster bundles, which con-
tinues into a towering block. There is an observation 
deck on the tower with a bell turret (Fig. 8). It should 
be noted that all buildings in the fortress had at most 
two floors, the ground floor and first floor, including 
the largest of them all, the General Command Palace 
(1723-1724), so the original view from the guardhouse 
tower extended across the entire fortress and the im-
mediate bastion area. All these characteristics of the 
Osijek guardhouse are visible in 1878 drawings (Fig. 9 
a, b, c),27 with the exception that the courtyard arch-
es were already walled up at that time.
The design for this major public building was created 
in the building office of the Slavonian General Com-
mand in Osijek. This can be inferred from its facade 
design with the characteristic Tuscan pilasters, of-
ten found on other military buildings and private 
houses in the fortress.28 One of them was the Gen-
eral Command Palace, the construction of which 
was also led by engineer Heisse,29 who thereby es-
tablished the characteristic design pattern used in 
Osijek’s architecture.

Vinkovci
The Main Guardhouse was also erected in Vinkovci, 
which was a command-post town (Stabsort) and the 
seat of the Brod Regiment within the Slavonian Military 
Frontier. Archive sources from the Slavonian General 
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9 a

Osijek, Main 
Guardhouse, 
facade, 1878 (NSK)

Osijek, Glavna 
straža, pročelje, 
1878. 

9 b

Osijek, Main 
Guardhouse, 
ground floor plan, 
1878 (NSK)

Osijek, Glavna 
straža, tlocrt 
prizemlja, 1878. 

9 c

Osijek, Main 
Guardhouse, first 
floor plan, 1878 
(NSK)
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Vinkovci, Main 
Guardhouse, 
reconstruction of 
the original state, 
facades

Vinkovci, 
Glavna straža, 
rekonstrukcija 
izvornog stanja, 
pročelja

(Petar 
Puhmajer, Ivana 
Popović, Emilie 
Augustinović Jurič, 
HRZ)

on the south side of the square, and a new building 
was erected for that purpose around 1807 on the north 
side.37 Furthermore, in 1826, the guardhouse began 
to house the newly established Building Directorate 
(Baudirektion) in Vinkovci.38

The building was originally smaller, as in the third quar-
ter of the 19th century, it was expanded towards the 
north. Town maps from the late 18th and the first half 
of the 19th century show that the building did not ex-
tend to the northern edge of the plot, as it does today, 
while a conservation probe of the building’s structures 
confirmed the subsequent extension.39 The layout (Fig. 
10) was initially determined by a centrally positioned 
corridor, with groups of four rooms on each side.40 It 
has been very similar to the Osijek guardhouse, sug-
gesting a possible common model. The front facing 
the square had a ground floor portico, while the rear 
facade had arcaded hallways on both floors. It is not 
known whether the Vinkovci guardhouse had a tow-
er like the one in Osijek or perhaps only a bell turret, 
which could be accessed from the first-floor central 
corridor. The facade in Vinkovci (Fig. 11) showcases 
intricate details, including alternating lambrequins, 
cloth fringe, and seashell ornaments on the windows, 
giving it an elegant, palatial appearance.

Stara Gradiška
In the fortress of Stara Gradiška, which was construct-
ed in several phases during the 18th century, the Main 
Guardhouse was built between 1732 and 1739, and it 
was first marked on Thomas Barmeyer de Barienkoff-
en’s map.41 At that time, it was located in a block near 
the northern town gate. However, due to the re-par-
cellation of the fortress, with the complete removal 
of private houses and the construction of solely mili-
tary buildings, a new guardhouse was erected in 1765 
on the main square, alongside the command office.42 
This new structure was demolished during the second 
half of the 18th century, and the 1823 map shows no 
building in that function.43

Nova Gradiška
The town of Nova Gradiška was founded in 1748 and 
developed as a Militär-Komunität starting in 1765. Re-
portedly, the original guardhouse on the main square 
was made of wood,44 after which the construction 
of a large brick arcaded building followed (Trg kral-
ja Tomislava 5), likely around 1770. This is mentioned 
by traveller Franz Stefan Engel, who stayed in the 
Regiment during the following decade.45 The elon-
gated two-story structure has been preserved until 
today. The floor plan layout consists of a sequence 
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of rooms in an enfilade. Its facade features a porti-
co with nine arches, supported by masonry columns 
with sloped bases and prominent capitals, and it 
originally had plastered corner rustication, window 
frames and horizontal strips, as seen on an old pho-
tograph (Fig. 12).46 

Bjelovar
The foundation and construction of Bjelovar began in 
1756 as a planned military town,47 with streets laid out 
at right angles in an orthogonal grid. In the center of 
this layout was the Parade Square with military build-
ings. The Main Guard was located in the military com-
mand building on the northwest side (Fig. 13), which 
served a dual purpose (Commando Haus samt der 
Haupt Wacht) and was already documented as such 
on the town map from 1772.48 The exact date of con-
struction has not been determined, but it must have 
occurred in the late 1760s. This is evident in an ini-
tial town plan with marked functions from 1765 that 
shows two separate buildings,49  one for the Križevci 
Regiment and another for the Đurđevac Regiment, on 
opposite sides of the square, each occupying half the 
width of the town block. However, in the end, a sin-
gle building was erected for both regiments, includ-
ing the main guard.50 Perhaps the multifunctional na-
ture of the building was why it was constructed as a 
three-story structure, which is a unique case,51 given 
that the largest buildings in military towns, even the 
Slavonian General Command Palace in Osijek (1723-
1724), had originally only two floors.52 In Bjelovar, the 
first and second floors could house the commands of 
two regiments, while the ground floor would contain 
the Main Guard.
At first, the building had only one wing facing the 
square, and the side wings were added in the 19th 
century. The ground floor featured a portico, with 
the main entrance in the center. The central corri-
dor was flanked by two double-flight staircases, and 
rooms lined up along the wings in a double sequence. 
On the first and second floors, large rooms were ar-
ranged along a wide longitudinal vaulted hallway 
facing the courtyard. However, in the 19th century, 
radical changes took place, establishing a central 
corridor with a series of rooms on either side. The 
façade, with as many as 17 window bays, is artic-
ulated by an arcaded ground floor and windows on 
the upper floors, separated by stuccoed pilasters. 
Although the pilasters are divided by a cornice, their 
bases are on the first floor and their capitals on the 
second floor, which makes an architectural principle 
called “giant order”.53 
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Petrinja
Petrinja also had the Militär-Komunität status and 
its Guardhouse was located on the north side of the 
main square, at the site of the current building at Trg 
Franje Tuđmana 15. The guardhouse was first depicted 
on a 1783 map as a three-winged structure facing the 
square and marked as a “neu erbaute Hauptwacht,”54 
which means it was built in the early 1780s.
In Petrinja, the organization of law enforcement was 
regulated in 1787 and operated as part of the civ-
il town council. The chief commissioner resided in 
the town hall, while the guardhouse was used by the 
guard who numbered four in 1798.55 With the es-
tablishment of two judicial institutions in Petrinja, 
the municipal and regimental courts, according to 
some sources, the office of the Second Ban’s Regi-
ment Headquarters moved into the Guardhouse in the 
early 19th century.56 However, an 1822 map indicates 
that it housed the regiment prison, Main Guard, and 
accounting office (Regiments Stockhaus, Hauptwacht 
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building is not known, but it was clearly marked on 
town maps in the 18th century in its current location. 
From that period could originate the central part of 
the building with five arcades on the ground floor, 
which are now walled up, while the side parts, were 
seemingly added later. Given the very similar five-bay 
façade in Osijek and Vinkovci and the mention of the 
building’s conversion into a post office after 1881, it 
can be assumed that the central projecting block con-
stituted the portico of the original guardhouse. How-
ever, without conservation and historical research, 
this remains a conjecture.

Belgrade
Belgrade was under Habsburg rule from 1717 to 1739. 
That brief period saw the construction of the fortress, 
mainly according to the designs of engineer Nico-
las Doxat Demoret (1682-1738). The Main Guard-
house62 was situated in the middle of the fortress 
plateau, surrounded by two elongated infantry bar-
racks. On Doxat’s fortress plan from 1723, the build-
ing is presented in bird’s-eye perspective (Fig. 16),63 
as a two-story structure with a hipped roof and a 
projected porch in front. It appears that the facades 
were made of visible brick, given the red dots on the 
plan, which was otherwise typical for the fortifica-
tion masonry. The building’s foundations have been 
excavated, showing its overall size of 16 x 16 meters, 
including a vaulted basement with two rooms.64 The 
building was documented on the 1738 plan,65 just a 
year before the Ottomans reoccupied Belgrade, and 
had it converted into a mosque. It was demolished 
in the 19th century.

und Rechnungskanzley),57 and not the regiment com-
mand. The building served similar functions until the 
mid-20th century and was demolished in 1958.
The appearance of the Petrinja guardhouse is known 
from several early 20th-century photographs (Fig. 14). 
It was a two-story structure with seven windows and 
massive arcades framed by plaster bands with pro-
jected keystones. The Plattenstil rectangular recessed 
panels, adorned the sections in between the arcades 
suggesting that the axes might have continued into 
the first floor as pilasters, but the plastered decora-
tion was reduced over time. 

Petrovaradin
In 1778, a traveler Johann Wilhelm von Taube men-
tioned the Main Guardhouse in the „lower fortress“ of 
Petrovaradin, located „on the large square with many 
beautiful houses“ (die Hauptwache welche an einem 
grossen mit schönen Häusern umgebenen Platze 
liegt).58 The building stood in the western part of the 
present-day Vladike Nikolaja Square and was depicted 
on the town and fortress map from 1750.59 The guard 
later moved to the building of the East Town Gate, 
known as the Belgrade Gate, and the old guardhouse 
was demolished. On top of the Petrovaradin fortress, 
there were several other guardhouses but only the 
Small guardhouse (Mala stražara) still exists today. It 
was built in the early 18th century60 and contains two 
rooms and a vaulted portico of three arches adorned 
with simple plaster decoration (Fig. 15).

Sremska Mitrovica
One more preserved guardhouse in the eastern Syr-
mia can be found in Sremska Mitrovica (No. 3 Vuka 
Karadžića Street).61 The architectural history of this 

14

Petrinja, Main 
Guardhouse, 1958 
(MKM)

Petrinja, Glavna 
straža, 1958.

15

Petrovaradin, 
Small Guardhouse

Petrovaradin, 
Mala stražara

(source / izvor: 
Wikimedia)
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guardhouse, as shown on several town maps, includ-
ing the quarantine map where the buildings’ layouts 
were sketched.67 On the 1799 map, the structure was 
only schematically marked.68 
The small Zemun Guardhouse was built in 1769, as 
evidenced by the project design (Fig. 17).69 It was a 
single-story structure with a vaulted portico featur-
ing five arches on the entrance side and three rooms. 
The central room was labeled as a guard’s room (Wa-
cht-Stube), in which there were three wooden beds 
and a stove, an officers’ room (Officiers Zimmer) had 
one bed and stove, while a prison (Arrest) only had a 
bed. Various 18th-century maps show many guard-
houses located on the road along the Danube in the 
surroundings of Zemun, most likely similar or rather 
modest wooden structures.

Conclusion
The identification of guardhouses in the Military Fron-
tier has shown a wide range of structures, from small 
brick-laid and wooden buildings to large houses with 
rich exteriors in prominent urban locations. The build-
ings in Osijek and Vinkovci exhibit high architectural 
quality, evident in their well-organized layouts with 
groups of office rooms, and decorative facade de-
sign. The Osijek house features early Baroque ele-
ments such as massive pilasters, while in Vinkovci, 
there is an elegant, late-Baroque lace-like decoration. 

Zemun
During the 18th century, Zemun was divided into ci-
vilian and military sectors,66 with the military area 
serving as a large quarantine for the frequently pass-
ing troops in the proximity to the border and Belgrade, 
which had permanently come under Ottoman con-
trol in 1739. In the quarantine area, there were large 
barracks, houses for administrators and workers, a 
vast stable, and, at the very southeastern end, a small 
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Belgrade, Main 
Guardhouse and 
army barracks, 
perspective view, 
by Nicolas Doxat 
Demoret, 1723 
(AT-OeStA)

Beograd, 
Glavna straža i 
vojarne, crtež 
u perspektivi, 
Nicolas Doxat 
Demoret, 1723

17

Zemun, Main 
Guardhouse, 
project design, 
1769 (AT-OeStA)

Zemun, Glavna 
straža, projektni 
nacrt, 1769.
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resources included, as seen in the case of the guard-
houses, designs that varied from grand structures 
to modest facilities. Regardless, the design of pur-
pose-specific buildings required a study of its func-
tions and the adaptation of the aesthetic design, which 
was also somewhat determined at the conceptual 
level. Adhering to standardized solutions was a com-
mon practice in the 18th century. It did not mean a 
less creative process for an architect, on the contra-
ry, it provided the basis for a new creation tailored to 
the scale of the city, the client’s needs, and the ar-
chitectural styles of time and place. Given that, the 
Main Guardhouses built along the southeastern bor-
der of the Habsburg Monarchy, in Croatia and Serbia, 
while only partially preserved, constitute a valuable 
contribution to Central European architectural culture 
in the 18th century.

Translation into English provided by the author.

This paper has been supported in part by the Croatian Science 
Foundation under the project HRZZ-IP-2018-01-3844, Eugene 
of Savoy (1663 – 1736) and Fortress-Towns on the South-East-
ern Borders of the Habsburg Monarchy.

Somewhat simpler buildings in Nova Gradiška, Bjelovar, 
and Petrinja had rooms connected in a row, and a se-
ries of repetitive arches, while the applied decoration 
of stucco bands and pilasters exhibits an early Neo-
classical vocabulary. The square-shaped building in 
Belgrade, with a hipped roof, somewhat evokes tra-
ditional concepts of oriental housing, however, based 
on the excavated remains, it can be assumed that its 
interior had a symmetrical layout with a central cor-
ridor and the adjoining rooms, similar to Osijek and 
Vinkovci. In Zemun, the Main Guardhouse was a sin-
gle-story structure with three rooms, reflecting the 
templates of simple wooden guardhouses, although 
it had a brick-vaulted front portico.
The similarity in the design of these buildings, espe-
cially the portico, was most probably the result of 
the standardized plans created within the state in-
stitutions of the Habsburg Empire responsible for the 
construction of public buildings. These emerged as 
early as the 16th century with the establishment of 
the Hofbauamt in Vienna, in charge of the imperial 
construction, which eventually evolved into the Hof-
baudirektion,70 an extensive cross-state civil service 
during the reigns of Maria Theresa and Joseph II. Some 
of its authority was transferred to the Aulic Chamber, 
a department that supervised and financed economic 
activities. It had independent headquarters in all of the 
Hereditary Lands, such as the Hungarian Aulic Cham-
ber in Bratislava, which was in charge of Hungary and 
Croatia. There was a building office where engineers 
designed plans for public and infrastructure build-
ings.71 These designs were then further developed by 
lower-ranking local authorities, such as county offices 
for land survey and construction.
The Military Frontier, on the other hand, had its own 
building offices within the generalates and regiments, 
employing engineers who worked on fortifications, 
but also on buildings and infrastructure owned by the 
military, including guardhouses. The Building Direc-
torate for the Slavonian Military Frontier (Slavonische 
Gränitz Bau Direktion) was located in Osijek, where 
it operated until 1783 when it was moved to Petro-
varadin.72 In the 1720s and 1730s, the chief engineer 
was the aforementioned Johann Friedrich von Heisse, 
who managed the construction of the Osijek fortress 
and, as we have seen, is the probable designer of the 
guardhouse. Since the designs for all military buildings 
were generally created in building offices, there is no 
reason to doubt that the designers of the guardhouses 
were other than the military engineers.
The designers used models from treatises and draw-
ing books, such as those of Fäsch or Penther. These 
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drawing by Thomas Roichevich from 1834, titled “Das Co-
mando Haus in Bellovar pro 1791,” supposedly based on the 
condition of 1791. See further in: Slukan Altić, Povijesni atlas 
gradova, 123.

52	 The Palace of the Slavonian General Command was added 
second floor around the middle of the 18th century. Hor-
vat-Levaj, Turkalj Podmanicki, Palača Slavonske General-
komande, 84-86.

53	 That is if the decoration has been accurately reconstructed 
in the recent restoration, considering that the original plaster 
had been completely removed from the facade in the 20th 
century.

54	 The plan was published in: Ivica Golec, Povijest grada Petrinje 
1240.–1592.–2014. (Petrinja 2014), 93-95.

55	 Golec, Povijest grada Petrinje, 235-236.
56	 Golec, Povijest grada Petrinje, 240.
57	 Nenad Lipovac, Petrinja: prostorno-povijesni razvoj grada 

očitan sa starih grafika, planova i karata (Zagreb, 2010), 
97-99.

58	 Friedrich Wilhelm von Taube, Historische und geographische 
Beschreibung des Königreiches Slavonien und des Herzogt-
humes Syrmien. III. Buch (Leipzig, 1778), 91.

59	 It is present-day Bishop Nikolaj Square (Trg Vladike Niko-
laja), which was reduced to one-quarter of its original size 
during the 20th century due to the construction of access 
roads for the bridge over the Danube. The building is marked 
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SAŽETAK

Glavna straža  
— prilog poznavanju vojnih javnih zgrada 18. stoljeća

Slijedom razvoja kameralnih znanosti i reforme državne službe, posebno u njemač-
kim i austrijskim zemljama, koji će biti temelj za uspostavu moderne i učinkovite 
javne administracije 18. stoljeća, došlo je do pojave raznovrsnih tipova javnih zgrada 
predodređenih njihovom namjenom. Među njima se izdvajaju zgrade Glavne straže, 
arhitektonski tip koji upravo u 18. stoljeću doživljava svoj vrhunac zahvaljući po-
stupnoj organizaciji policijske službe u europskim gradovima, bilo u okviru civilnih, 
bilo vojnih vlasti. Zgrade straža nalazimo u brojnim gradovima Habsburškog Carstva, 
a posebno u sklopu Hrvatske i Slavonske Vojne krajine gdje je sačuvano ili pak samo 
identificirano više primjera: u Osijeku, Vinkovcima, Staroj Gradiški, Novoj Gradiški, 
Bjelovaru, Petrinji, Sremskoj Mitrovici, Petrovaradinu, Zemunu i Beogradu. Projekti 
za zgrade Glavne straže, kao i za sve vrste vojnih zgrada, nastaju u okviru građevin-
skih ureda Vojne krajine, a inženjeri koji ih projektiraju djelomično posežu za tip-
skim obrascima u arhitektonskim traktatima i knjigama crteža.
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